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1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Summary

A major upgrading scheme being undertaken by
Dwr Cymru plc includes the establishment of 4 new
sewage treatment works at Bynea, Llanelli. The work
involves the demolition of Pen-y-bryn, an abandoned
post-medieval farm complex (DAT PRN 29589) that was
thought to possibly overlie a medieval manorial centre.
Accordingly, a survey of the farm buildings was commis-
sionted by Dwr Cymru.

The farm complex comprises a house and three,
formerly four ranges of cutbuildings around a rectangular
yard. A further range lies behind and at right angles to
the house. At least 10 building phases were identified, the
earliest belonging to the 18th century when the core of the
house and one range of outbuildings were probably
constructed. The remainder, including two cowsheds/
milking parlours and a complex of pigpens, are of 19th-
20th century date.

There was no evidence that any of the buildings
incorporated any structure fron earlier periods, and
neither landscape nor map evidence for medieval anteced-
ents.

1.2 Purpose of the record

Details of the proposed construction of a sewage
treatment works at Bynea, Llanelli, were forwarded by
Tania Morris, Project Scientist for Wallace Evans, to
Dyfed Archaeological Trust for comment on 31 July
1992,

Following an initial assessment of the scheme by
the Heritage Management Section of Dyfed Archaeologi-
cal Trust, Dwr Cymru were advised of the need for a
detailed archaeological desk-top assessment of the project
to be prepared in order for detailed mitigatory measures to
be drafted. Subsequently, in a letter dated 8 June 1993,
Ken Wade confirmed that Wallace Evans wished the
Trust to undertake the detailed assessment of the scheme.

The report, prepared by H James of Dyfed As-
chaeological Trust’s Heritage Management Section, was
submitted to Wallace Evans in July 1993. It wag intended
to provide Wallace Evans with sufficient information to
assess the likely impact of the proposed works upon the
archaeological resource and to take this into account as a
material consideration in the determination of appropriate
mitigatory measures.

The report also recommended the further mitig-
atory response that might be deemed necessary. The
central recommendation was that a drawn and photo-
graphic record be underiaken of the structures and
buildings at Pen-y-bryn farm. Pen-y-bryn farm lay directly
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within the proposed development area and was intended
for demolition and clearance during the construction of
ther STW. The survey was therefore a rescue record prior
to demolition. The site was deemed of importance due to
its well-preserved complex of good-quality farm build-
ings, and its possible origins within the medieval period.

1.3 Site location (Fig. 1)

The location, known history, and possible origins,
of Pen-y-bryn farm (DAT PRN 29589) have been dis-
cussed in the desk-top assessment that accompanies this
scheme (James, 1993), and further set against the local
landscape in James, 1992, The details are briefly summa-
rised here.

Pen-y-bryn farmstead is situated at NGR S8 5415
9827, near Bynea in the parish of Llanelli. It lies 4km SE
of the town of Llanelli on a gentle south facing slope, 7-
10m above sea-level and 400m north of the present-day
high water mark, The underlying solid geclogy comprises
coal-bearing Upper Carboniferous strata overlain by
glacial deposits; the low hillock on which the farm stands
is one of the moraines deposited in this coastal region
during the last glaciation, the bases of which represent the
post-glacial shoreline (Symons, 1979, 7-10). The site of
Pen-y-bryn farmstead has, then, been dry land since the
last glaciation; however, much of the surrounding land-
scape has been created by reclamation from coastal marsh
and mud-flat during historic times.

1.4 Site history

It has been proposed (James, 1993, 3) that Pen-y-
bryn Farm possibly has its origins as a medieval manorial
centre. The glacial hillock of Pen-y-bryn, along with the
neighbouring Techon Fawr, Tir Morfa, and Spitty Bank
all form natural sites for potential early settlement. Pen-y-
bryn occupies the largest along with Bryn Carnarfon and
Dyffryn farms and any or all of these farmsteads may
have origins as medieval (or earlier) settlements, that
contracted into private farms in the late medieval or early
post-medieval period.

It is likely that the core of the medieval manor of
Berwick, which lay within the commote of Carnwallon,
was situated within the immediate neighbourhood,
Berwick was a subsidiary manor of the anglicised medi-
eval borough of Llanelli but its origins lay as a Welsh
‘maenor’. Although its boundaries and administration
were formalised under Anglo-Norman rule, it is probable
that native divisions were perpetuated (James, 1992,13),

‘Maenor Berwick’ is depicted by Rees, 1932. He
places the manorial centre on the site of the present-day
Berwic farm, with a subsidiary settlement at Dyffryn, He
is doubtless following the location of ‘Barwig vill® as
depicted by Emmanuel Bowen in his map of 1740; the
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modern farm name is significant. James, however (James,
1992, 19, 1993, 3) suggests that the manorial centre, with
its associated vill (small village or hamlet), lay on the site
now occupied by either Dyffryn, Bryn Carn-arfon or Pen-
y-bryn farmsteads. Unfortunately no recognisable place-
name is given in an early 17th century survey of the
commote of Carnwallon, which is rather terse when
dealing with the manor of Berwick (Rees, 1953, 253-
278).

Certainly field strips from the medieval period
were still under multiple ownership at Bryn Carnarfon in
the 18th century (NL'W, Parish of Llanelli, Tithe Map and
Apportionment, 1841). Earthworks north of Pen-y-bryn
shown on a map of 1877 were regarded by James as
possibly representing boundaries extending, its fields
towards Techon Fawr, which pre-date the establishment
of the neighbouring farm of Penclacwydd before the 18th
century (James, 1992, 22). James suggested that they are
medieval in origin. A characteristic indicator of medieval
settlement, ridge-and-furrow ploughing, has not been
detected here.

An alternative model is that Pen-y-bryn may
represent an extension of settlement and exploitation of
marshland outwards from the area of the manorial centre,
during the 16th-17th centuries (James, 1993, 3). By this
means the Vaughan family, Lords of the Manor, may
have both increased their rentals from farmland and
extended their interests into the surrounding coalfields.

Whatever its origins, by the 18th century at least
Pen-y-bryn was a private farm under single ownership. It
was a holding of some status, though never large. During
the 18th and the earlier 19th centuries the farm, in
cominon with much of the former Manor of Berwick,
formed part of the vast Stepney estate and through much
of this period Pen-y-bryn, Dyffryn, Tir Baccas and Bryn
Carn-arfon farms remained under conunon ownership
{owner, Dyifryn Farm, pers. comm.). An early de-tailed
plan of the farm, from 1760 (Carmarthen-shire Record
Office, Stepney Collection SE 72), shows 14 fields
occupying some 55 acres twice subtenanted from the
estate. Unfortunately Pen-y-bryn is one of those holdings
absent from the Tithe Map for Llanelli parish of 1841, an
ommission of a valuable source of information. By the
time of the detailed Ordnance Survey of 1879, Pen-y-bryn
farm has acquired much of the arrangement that we see
today (see below, 2.2).

The farmhouse was abandoned in the early 1970s,
but the land continued to be farmed a new hay barn was
constructed (owner, Dyffryn Farm, pers. comm.).

1.5 Aims and objectives

The main aim of the project was the preservation
by record of a site due for demolition. An additional
objective was the provision of an analytical study. These
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aims were achieved by:-

-furnishing a complete record of the standing
structures present within the farmstead to a level corre-
spotiding to Level 3 as defined by RCHME (see below,
2.1)

-ascertaining whether the structures and layout of
the farm incorporate or respect evidence for earlier
settlement

-analysing the structures in relation to the docu-
mentary and map evidence in order to place the structures
and their development within a dated constuctional
history, and assessing their development in relation to the
surrounding landscape

2,0 METHODOLOGIES AND

RESULTS
2.1 Methodologies of the record

The project incorporated two tasks:-

-a drawn field survey of the farmstead and accom-
panying photographic record

-the analysis of a range of documentary and map
Sources.

The standing building record was undertaken to a
level corresponding to Level 3 as defined by RCHME
(RCHME, Recording Historic Buildings: a Descriptive
Specification, 1990).-

Level 3 is fully analytical, and will comprise an
introductory written description followed by a systematic
account of the building s origins, development and use.
The record will include an account of the evidence on
which the analysis is based, allowing the validity of the
record to be re-examined. It will also include all visual
data that may be required to illustrate the building’s
appearance and structure and fo support an historical
analysis. The record at Level 4 will draw on the full
range of other sources of informaiion about the building
and discuss its significance in terms of architectural,
social, regional or economic history.’

The drawing and photograpic record is catalogued
below, 5.0. It is deposited in Dyfed Sites and Monuments
Record,

The archive drawings comprise a ground plan of
the farm complex at 1:100 scale and plan and elevations
of the farmhouse at 1:50 scale. The drawings are repro-
duced within this report as figs, 2-4,



2.2 Documentary and map evidence

A number of map sources were examined in
attempt to place the development of the farm within an
absolute chronological context, and to analyse the rela-
tionship of the farmstead structures with the landscape of
the holding as a whole, its boundaries, and any changes
that may have occured within it through time.

The complete list of map sources consulted is
reproduced in 7.1 and 7.3. Of these only a few depicted
the layout of Pen-y-bryn; these are dicussed below.

The farmstead will be discussed below in terms of
its current arrangement of house, northern range, eastern
range, western range and southern range (see below, 2.3).

2.2.1. 1760 PLAN (APPENDIX 8.1)

The map evidence displays few indicators of the
early development of the holding, The earliest
detailed dated plan of Pen-y-bryn - which is also
its earliest named reference (Carmarthenshire
Record Office, Stepney Collection SE 72) - dates
from 1760; by this time the pattern of field
boundaries that exists today had been established.
The only differences occur in the area occupied by
the farm buildings themselves.

Evidence for medieval strip fields is confined to
one fong narrow field at the northern edge of the
farm. Moreover, the entire holding was under
single ownership having been occupied by “the
late Francis William, under tenant to Mr Edward
Dalten’ (and held from the Stepney estate). This is
in marked contrast to the neighbouring Bryn
Carnarfon farm with its distinct group of field
strips under mixed ownership. A ‘quillet’ of strips
is also shown at the farm of Penclacwydd, immedi-
ately to the west, in a 19th century plan
{Carmarthenshire Record Office, Stepney Collec-
tion D54),

The 1760 plan shows the high water mark in the
same position as today. The sea defence along this
stretch of the Loughor foreshore - “The Bulwark” -
is not named as such but it is apparent that it was
already in existence. The marshland to the east of
Pen-y-bryn, Morfa Bacas, was not reclaimed until
after 1810, enclosed by Parliamentary Act
(Carmarthenshire Record Office, AE1R).

No significant changes in the landscape and field
pattern are apparent in later maps.

The farm buildings, in contrast, have undergone
significant change and development. The present
formalised plan around a large rectangular yard
appears static and long-standing, This is a superfi-
cial appearance, however. The 1760 plan clearly
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shows that this central open space had not been
established. The core of the present farmhouse (see
below, 2.3.1) was in existence and associated with
a small paddock to the south, ‘Grofft’. Intruding
into the south-west corner of this paddock is a
smaller enclosure, on the western side of which is
depicted a long building that may be a badly
located depiction of part of the present eastern
range. On the other hand it may represent a
building that has now completely gone, and
indicate that the eastern range had not yet been
constructed.

There is little in the 1760 plan in terms of the
arrangement of buildings and boundaries to
suggest the former presence of a larger settlement.

C.1813 MAP

The 2" to the mile Ordnance Survey ‘Original
Survey Drawings® of the early 19th cventury are
rarely detailed enough to allow any firm analysis
of individual farmstead layouts. In the case of Pen-
y-bryn Farm, however, certain conclusions can be
drawn from the map (National Library of Wales,
Ordnance Survey, ‘Original Survey Drawings’,
Sheet 188, 1813, revised 1827).

The map is rather vague and compromised as
evidence by the ommission of the farmhouse.
However, it would appear to clearly show that in
the years between 1760 and 1813 the large open
space of the current farmyard had been established.
A developed eastern range is clearly shown, and at
least part of the present western range. In addition
a building further to the west that was short lived
and appears on no later maps. No building is
shown to the north of the house.

Field boundaries are shown only in rather vague
form.

C.1825 MAP

The depiction on the Ordnance Survey of c. 1825
(Ordnance Survey, ¢.1825-1828, Index fo Tithe
Survey, Old Series, Sheet 37) is again rather
vague. The farmhouse is shown, but no northern
range, and while the yard is depicted both eastern
and western ranges appear in somewhat truncated
form,

Field boundaries are not shownn.

MID 19TH CENTURY PLAN (APPENDIX 8.2)

A 19th century plan (Carmarthenshire Record
Office, Stepney Collection D54) is undated but
appears to have been surveyed around the middle

of the century.

A more detailed plan is depicted than in either of
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2.25

the two plans cited above; however, the survey is
curtailed to the sonth and the arrangement here is
not clear. However, it is clear that by the time of
the survey {(which may indeed be a copy of an
earlier survey), the western range had been
established much as it exists today and that the
northern three bays of the eastern range were
standing,

Again (and curiously - see below, 3.3) the northern
range i not shown.

1879 MAP (APPENDIX 8.3)

The Ordnance Survey 1:2500 First Edition of 1879
{Carmarthenshire, Sheet LVIII. 12) depicts the
arrangement of farmstead structures and field
boundaries that is present more-or-less unchanged
today.

This detailed map shows individual buildings and
sometimes their internal partitions. Both western
and eastern ranges more-or-less respect their
present arrangement - all the main elements were
already constructed. The farmhouse is shown as
today, and the nothern range. No structures are
shown to the south of the yard but the high bound-
ary wall that still remains is depicted.

2.2.6 1907 MAP (APPENDIX 8.4)

The situation depicted in 1907 is little changed
from that shown in 1879 (Ordnance Survey 1:2500
Second Edition, Carmarthenshire, Sheet LVIII. 12,
1907). The arrangement only differs in the addi-
tion of the two buildings of the southern range, and
an extension at the southern end of the eastern
range.

2.2.7 SUMMARY OF MAP EVIDENCE

The map evidence is either absent or rather
inconclusive regarding the origins and early
development of the farmstead and its relationship
to, and changes within, the landscape in which it
lies. By the time of the earliest survey, 1760, the
farm was clearly a single ownership holding
offering no evidence to suggest an earlier nuclea-
tion or field system. The earthworks depicted north
of the farm in 1879, regarded by James as evidence
of former communal settlement (James, 1992, 22)
do not, and may never have belonged to Pen-y-
bryn; they now lie within Penclacwydd Farm.

1t is clear that the farmstead was substantially
enlarged and remodelled in the late 18th-early
19th centuries with the introduction of the formal-
ised plan that includes the extensive yard and two
new ranges of buildings. This would appear to rep-
resent a rise in its fortunes, but there is no evi-
dence for an accompanying increase in the farms
acreage. There was little further enlargement.

PEN Y BRYN FARM

2.3 The recorded evidence: description

of the structures

Pen-y-bryn farmstead now comprises a house,
northern range, eastern range, western range and
part of the former southern range. They are
arranged in a formal systemn around a large
rectangular farmyard, defined by the buildings and
by a substantial wall to the south. The large
modern hay barn to the west of the enclosure lies
beyond the scope of this report.

All farmstead buildings display fabric from
successive rebuilds and extensions. The 10 phases
that were recognised throughout the farmstead will
be dicussed below, 3.0. In this section the indi-
vidual structures will be described in terms of
construction, development and where possible,
function.

Problems arose in assigning specific functions to
some of the buildings. The farmstead is in a state
of dereliction having been abandoned in the 1970s.
Many structural features have been lost and much
of the agricultural furniture. In addition, the site
was heavily overgrown and whilst as much
vegetation was removed as was feasible, many
features were still obscured.

It is therefore to comparitive study thet this report
turns, The formalised layout of post-18th century
Pen-y-bryn allows functional comparison with a
number of other Welsh farmsteads of similar date.

However, it should be pointed out that the struc-
tural evidence will normally only relate to the
latest or last function to which an individual
building was put. The structural history of each
building may represent successive differing
functions, each one abscuring the former evidence
whilst influencing successive evidence.

2.3.1 THE FARMHOUSE {FIGS. 3 - 4)

The farmhouse is now a building of some preten-
sion, At its core, however, lies a probable sub-
medieval plan house,

The house, though in decay, survives more-or-less
intact even to the roofing timbers. The internal
partitions and floors also survive, or can at least be
traced. The exceptions are the chimneys and the
upper stage of the east (end) wall which, in the
main body of the house, has gone. The roof was
slated throughout,

Main block

In plan the houge comprises a three-bay gabled
main E-W block, with a narrow lean-to annexe to



the north. The main block more-or-less equates
with the earliest building on the site, a fairly
narrow 2-storey house constructed from well-
coursed limestone rubble. In its original form it
appears that the house was of sub-medieval plan
typical of rural Wales. All internal partition walls
are - and clearly always have been - of timber.
They divide the interior space into three bays, from
west to east a small parlour with a fireplace in the
west (end) wall and room above, a stairwell, and in
the eastern half a long room with a fireplace in the
east (end) wall and also with a rooin above. The
original level of the first floor in this half of the
building may be represented by the row of joist
holes visible in the north wall. The east wall is
almost certainly a later insertion - it does not bond
with the side walls and continues northwards,
albeit in altered form, to form the end wall of the
annexe. An offset in this wall lies at present first
floor level, immediately below the earlier joist
holes.

With the exception of a blocked window in the
south wall, with a stepped rebate, none of the
original openings survive in an unaltered form.
However, the spatial arrangement represented by
the main doorway in the south wall, and the
position of the partition demarcating the western
chamber may be original. It would convincingly
represent a Type ‘A’ house, with the entry at the
“dais end’, according to Smith’s classification
(Smith, 1988, 172) particularly if the present
fireplace in the west end wall is a rebuild of an
original feature. The plain fireplace on the first
floor here certainly suggests an early date. The east
end wall may be a rebuild of an earlier wall, but
not necessarily on the same line. Nevertheless,
there is no reason to suppose that the original east
wall did not also possess a fireplace. The present
position of the stair also appears to reflect the
earlier arrangement.

Type “A’ end-chimney houses have a scattered
distribution in SW Wales but Carmarthenshire
examples are known (Smith, 1988, 436). The
larger room (here east of the door) was, in early
houses, a hall open to the roof, the smaller room
being occupied by the parlour. There is no evi-
dence to suggest that the large room ever acted as a
byre or that the plan derives from the longhouse
(Smith, 1988, 158). The arrangement first appears
in Wales in the 16th century, but variants upon it
continued to be built well into the 18th century and
there is no reason to propose an early origin for
that at Pen-y-bryn.

The roof trusses may well be original. The roof
structure is a simple ‘close-couple’ arrangement
consisting entirely of pairs of common rafters
iinked at their bases by the tie-beams (Brunskill,
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1985, 171). The timbers are all pegged; no carpen-
ter’s marks were ohserved.

Major alterations occurred within the fabric, if not
to the layout of the main biock. The construction of
the annexe against the north wall was accompa-
nied by the insertion of 2 communicating door
through from the eastern room, and from the
stairwell bay at first floor level. Later still, the
present east wall was constructed, again of lime-
stone.

The insertion of the present door and window
openings, all square-headed, in the south wall was
accompanied by the rendering of this facade. The
render continues around each opening as a raised
surround marked out in imitation coursing. It is to
this early 20th century period that the present
layout of partitions, stairs and floors appear to
belong judging by details of doorframe moulding.
The positioning of floors and partitions has been
noted above, The stairs rise to a dog-leg at the
doorway into the annexe first floor and continue
upwards to the first floor of the main block. The
awkwardness of the insertion of the annexe
doorway at a slightly higher level suggests thst the
stair follows an earlier arrangement.

The two ground floor fireplaces are rebuilds with
decorative tiles of the 1930s.

All door and window frames are now lost.

Annexe

The lean-to annexe added against the north wall of
the main block is of thin limestone slab construc-
tion, left unrendered, The lean-to appears to post
date the N-S long walls of the northern range,
which it apparently cuts off (see below, 2.3.2). It
has nndergone little alteration since its initial
construction.

The lean-to is of two storeys, the first floor an attic
under the lean-to roof. The ground floor is divided
into two by a masonry wll, continued on the first
flcor as a lath-and-plaster partition. All openings
appear to belong to the initial construction of the
annexe; externally they comprise the three win-
dows and central door on the ground floor and four
first floor windows, two in the north wall and one
in each end wall. Probably all were square-headed
initially, and all windows are of equal size, but the
western of the two first floor windows in the north
wall was rebuilt with a segmental brick head. Both
first floor windows lie just below eaves level. A
variety of window frames are present, both sash
and hinged,



The east wall was rebuilt, presumably at the same
time as the east wall of the main block but here the
wall was given a red-brick cladding externally.
From at least this period onwards the eastern room
of the annexe ground floor functioned as the
kitchen while the western room appears to have
been used as a laundry. A kitchen range including
a bread oven is let into, and is coeval with, the
eastern wall, but was later concealed behind an
Aga. Structural laundry furniture comprises a
series of sink stands and brackets, and the scars
thereof where destroyed,

Both upper floor rooms were apparently low-
ceilinged bedrooms and there is little structural
material of note, The roof timbers are simple
single rafters associated with a lean-to roof.

Garden

A rectangular garden plot to the front (south) of
the house is defined by a low limestone wall. This
is ruinous and overgrown, but rendered where it
survives. The masonry gate-posts are typically 19th
century; otherwise the wall is not closely dateable.
It was standing by 1879 (Ordnance Survey 1:2500
First Edition, Carmarthenshire, Sheet LVIII. 12).

2.3.2 THE NORTHERN RANGE (FIG. 2)

The northern range consists of a building, semi-
roofed, ranning N-S from the north face of the
farmhouse annexe, and a 20th century WC.

The southern portion of the building is now open,
and the sothren half of both eastern and western
walls stanid to a few courses at most. It appears that
these limestone rabble walls pre-date the farm-
house annexe which seemingly cuts across them
irrespective of the position of the annexe openings.
The northern half of each wall, however, stands
two storeys high and their northern ends are linked
by an E-W wall of equal height, with a contempo-
rary square-headed door. The northern half of thig
area than was evidently roofed and somewhere
within it lay a further E-W wall forming the
southern wall of this roofed area. There is now no
trace of this - the whole area is massively over-
grown and all standing masonry heavily ivied.

The arrangement thus described forms a two-storey
rectangular building, of unknown function but
probably aligned E-W, with a small yard to the
south, The western wall of this yard incorporates a
masonry well-head, circular in plan. The well is
still open, and wet. The arrangement is approxi-
mately depicted on both Ordnance Survey 1:2500
First and Second Editions, Carmarthenshire, Sheet
LVIIL12, 1879 and 1907.
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The northern wall of the roofed area now forms the
southern wall of a roughly square two storey
gabled building of domestic use, Of slender brick
cavity wall construction (both skins comprising
just one row of stretchers), this building displays,
in addition to the earlier door mentioned above
which remained in use, two windows and a door
on the ground floor and a window on the first
floor. All openings are square-headed. All frames
are now gone, and the eastern ground floor
window has been blocked. The north wall displays
a large range at ground floor level and a further
fireplace on the first floor. The exteriors of the
north, west and east walls have been rendered
throughout. The roof and chimney have gone.

Just to the north and at an angle to the northern
range stands a detached, brick-built WC. This was
not fully surveyed and only its approximate
position is marked in fig. 2.

It is apparent that in its later phases the northern
range and WC formed a self-contained domestic
unit, presumably for a family member of the owner
of tenant farmer,

2.3.3. THE WESTERN RANGE (FIG. 2}

The western range represents an agglomeration of
additions from successive periods, now comprising
two parallel adjoining cowsheds/milking parlours
aligned N-S, a series of at least three ruined
pigsties and an annexe at the north end, and two
pigsties, over which lies a loft, at the south end.
The bulk of the western range stands more-or-less
complete to the synthetic-tile roofs, and was
evidently in use after the majority of the farm
buildings, including the house, had been aban-
doned. Many of the fottings, including the stalls
and the pipework for the milking apparatus,
remain intact.

Cowshed 1

The eastern of the two cowsheds/milking parlours
represents the earliest surviving building in the
western range and appears to be a de novo struc-
ture of a single build. Originally it was a long,
narrow gabled building with seven doorways onto
the farmyard in the east wall, and two doorways in
the west wall. The only window was a small
square-headed opening in the north wall. Con-
struction is of roughly coursed limestone rubble
throughout and it is now whitewashed. The
openings are all segmental-headed with limestone
voussoirs. In its initial phase the building was
possibly higher and featured a loft, but firm
evidence for this is lacking,



The building was evidently a cowshed from the
first but the original internal arrangements have
been obscured by later developments. However,
there is no reason for assuming that the cattle were
not stalled at right angles to the axis of the build-
ing with a feed trough to the west as in the present
arrangement. Up to ten head could be accomo-
dated.

Four of the seven eastern doorways were [ater
constricted to form windows, with frames tiow in
poor condition, and later still the southern of the
two western doorways was blocked, With the
advent of modern machine milking, or when the
synthetic-tile roof was installed, the possible
former Ioft may have been lost, The roof timbers
are of no great age. Floor and trough are now
concrete, with steel bar stall rails. The vacuum
pipe from the milking machine, housed in the
annexe to the north, is still present.

Pigsties

A complex of pigsties was added to this initial
building and their walls can be seen to butt against
it. They are all aligned E-W and comprise a house
and small pen. Construction is of limestone rubble
while the low segmental arches into the houses are
of brick. A series of at least three were constructed
against the west wall of the cowshed and face west.
The later construction of a second cowshed in the
southern part of this area swept away part of the
southernmost sty and perhaps further sties, The
remainder were abandoned, and were ruinous by
1879, they are not shown on Ordnance Survey
1:2500 First Edition, Carmarthenshire, Sheet
LVIIL.12, 1879. No trace of 3 stairway to a loft is
evident, but the sties are in a very ruinous condi-
tion and their upper levels lost.

A gabled loft was installed over the two pigsties
built against the south wall of the initial cowshed,
which face east. However the loft has been height-
ened in red-brick, and the doorway, reached by a
stair in the south wall, given a red-brick surround.
with the alteration of the original features it is
impossible to be sure that the loft was present from
the first.

Cowshed 2

The second cowshed, with room for a further 5
head of milkers, is probably contemporary with
these loft alterations. It is a handsome gabled
structure in a mixed limestone, sandstone and
yellow-brick fabric. The quoins and opening
surrounds are all in red brick; the latter all have
segmental heads. The shed is divided into two
unequal areas. Originally the northern and larger
area housed the milking cows and heifers, while
the southern half - over which lies a loft - con-
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tained either yearlings or fatstock (Wiliam, 1986,
107). There are three doorways and two windows
in the northern half, with a communicating
doorway into the southern area which features
three windows and a door. The loft is entered via
two large openings in the southern gable end, one
of them possibly facilitating the operation of
machinery. Door and window frames still survive.
The windows are divided by transoms, and were
slatted above and glazed below.,

The original arrangements have again been
obscured by recent development but the concrete
floor, eastern trough and steel stall rails aligned E-
W may follow the original arrangement. The
vacuum pipe from the milking machine is likewise
still present in the northern half The original roof
timbers may still be present but roofed with
synthetic tiles.

Milking machine house

The small annexe built onto the northern end of
the initial cowshed was built to house the milking
machine. It is constructed in brick, with walls one
stretcher deep, and rendered.

2.3.4 THE EASTERN RANGE (FIG. 2)

The eastern range forms a single row of buildings
aligned N-S along the eastern side of the farmyard.
The range is situated some considerable distance
away from the house but there is no evidence,
either map or on the ground, to suggest the former
presence of any intervening structure.

The present arrangement is subdivided into five
individual sections. The first floor timbers, where
present, have survived; not so door and window
frames, The roof, and roof timbers, are also gone.
Debris from this collapse, and undergrowth,
obscured much of the internal arrangements.

Barns and stable

The nucleus of the eastern range is the handsome
barn and stable block at the north end. It is a
gabled building of 1%2-2 storeys and of well-
coursed and roughly dressed limestone throughout.
Three sections are divided by substantial limestone
walls that ascend the full height of the building to
the roof. They bond, and are clearly contemporary
with, the external walls. The northern section is
entered through a tall, wide entry in each of the
side walls. That to the west has lost its head; the
survivor, to the east, has a segmental head of
limestone voussoirs. None of the doors or centre
posts remain. The end bays are ventilated by four
slit lights, The first floor is later, formerly being
open to the roof. The opposed barn doors clearly
indicate that the central bay was constructed as the
threshing floor (Wiliam, 1986, 152-3). Any
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evidence for internal subdivision within this
section, ie. between the threshing fleor itself and
the bays either side, is now lost. The process may
have become mechanised when the engine house
(below) was introduced,

The adjoining section to the south is now of two
floors but this may not have been the original
arrangement and the communicating doorway
from the section to the north, at first floor level,
has a timber lintel in marked contrast to the
segmental heads with limestone voussoirs that
characterise the original openings. There is a large
doorway to the west, partly destroyed along with a
section of the wall above. The opening {door?
window?) to the east was subject to later alteration
with the construction of a engine house.

The engine house is a small lean-to building with
walls of red brick, one stretcher deep, and a tin
roof, constructed against the east side of the range.
The machinery has gone but was probably powered
by a small portable steam engine, or, more likely
given the engine house’s probable mid 20th
century date, a stationary internal combustion
engine (Edgington, 1980). A drive wheel lies
adjacent to the modified opening in the eastern
range wall. The opening was adapted for the
passage of a belt drive which leads to a gear-and-
flywheel, still in site and mounted on the first floor
timbers within the central bay of the eastern range.
Further belt drives may have entered the northern
section, but there is little evidence of this.

The machinery may have been used for barley
crushing, or perhaps for winnowing the wheat, the
two processes of winnowing and threshing then
occurring in separate locations. Processing was
doubtless accompanied by storage within this
section and may represent its original function.

The southernmost of the three sections of this
earliest building has been altered with the intro-
duction of later openings. However, they may
reflect the original arrangement. It has three bays.
All opening are in the east wall and comprise a
central door and two windows on the ground floor,
and a central large opening on the first floor, All
now have segmental red-brick heads (partly lost),
and on the first floor a brick surround. Neither
doors, windows nor their frames survive,

The section may always have been lofted, and it is
clear that in its surviving form at least that it was
the stable. All internal fittings, and flooring, have
been lost, but the dimensions, three blank walls,
the arrangement of doors and windows, and the
loft entry are all diagnostic (Wiliam, 1986, 129-
137). Space exists for the stalling of up to seven
horses.
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Southern building

A large extension was added onto the southern end
of the initial eastern range to which it can be seen
to butt. Although of equally substantial limestone
constructicn this building survives only in a very
poor condition; possibly some deliberate demoli-
tion has taken place, perhaps prior to the farm’s
abandonment. Only the southern gable, part ot the
eastern wall and a later brick-built partition
survive. The interior is entirely overgrown. The
evidence suggests that the building, though
standing to the same height as the remainder of the
eastern range, was of a single storey and open to
the roof. Two altered openings exist in the east
wall, and one jamb in the west wall suggests a
doorway, but they are hardly diagnostic and the
function of the building remains unknown.

In 1907 a small building is depicted at the south
end of the above, in a position one might expect
the presence of a chaff room (Ordnance Survey
1:2500 Second Edition, Carmarthenshire, Sheet
LVIIL.12). This has now gone and a cattle trough
lies against the south end wall of the building
above.

2.3.5. THE SOUTHERN RANGE (FIG. 2)

The map evidence indicates that the buildings
formerly present in the south of the farmyard were
the latest large scale additions to the farm (see
below, 3.7).

It is from the south that the farm was formerly
approached (rather from the west as today),
entered via a wide gateway through a probable
wall. Later, a building was constructed either side
of the entry replacing the enclosure wall. Of these,
only the western survives but in a ruinous condi-
tion. The eastern building, with the exception of its
south wall, hras gone, but the two iron gate posts
survive.

Western building

The building to the west has undergone much
alteration during its short life. it is now almost
completely ruincus, only the easterm wall and
external steps surviving to any height. The roof,
and all other timberwork, are gone. The building
‘was in ruins some time before the farm was
abandoned.

It was initially a two storey structure in limestone
rubble with a gabled roof. There were two rooms
on the ground floor. The eastern room was entered
via a square-headed doorway in the east wall and a
former doorway in the north wall, There is a
much-damaged window opening in the south wall.
An entry leads into the eastern gable end at first
floor level. This has a mixed brick surround.
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The ground floor eastern doorway was later
blocked with brick, and later still an incongruous
red-brick external stairway constructed, leading up
to the first floor entry. This is a massive structure,
and ostentatious, with two full-centred semicircu-
lar arches, and is the only part of the western
building that still survives intact. It appears
however to provide no clues as to the function of
the building,

The western room is almost completely gone and
the arrangements are now impossible to discern.
This had occurred some time prior to the abandon-
ment of the farm and the north-west corner has
been replaced by a concrete gatepost, A cattle
trough now lies against the south wall.

The location of the building suggests its use as a
carthouse, which may also explain its early disuse,
Two possible entries face the yard. A loft above the
carthouse might be expected (Wiliam, 1986, 134)
and the two rooms may represent bays for indi-
vidual carts, One problem with this interpreteation
is that the entry into the eastern room, while
vaguely defined, appears too narrow from the
standing, evidence.

Eastern building

The eastern building replaced the former enclosure
wall east of the gateway. It is only known from
map evidence (Ordnance Survey 1:2500 Second
Edition, Carmarthenshire, Sheet LVIIL.12, 1907)
but its south wall still survives to form a high
south wall of the farmyard. However, no sign of a
roof crease or rafter holes is present in this wall. It
was evidently a large, long building aligned E-W
which may, rather than the western building,
represent the carthouse. It was clearly in ruins or
demolished some time before the farm was aban-
doned.

. 30.DISCUSSION (FIG.2) . ...

Pen-y-bryn farmstead developed from a sub-
medieval house and possible ancillary buildings through
to a formally planned farmstead of some status, featuring
a number of ranges around a large ceniral yard. In
addition, more than one dwelling was present.

The structural history has been broken down into
10 broad phases, most of which are represented through-
out the farmstead and represent every stage of the farm’s
growth and decline. Many of them will be short-lived and
represent short building campaigns. Others appear to
represent periods of little growth.

The structural history is analysed here in compari-
son with the map evidence. The map sources can feature
buildings for which there is no structural evidence. In
addition, it must be borne in mind that at any stage there
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may have been present an unknown number of buildings
for which there is neither structural nor map evidence.

3.1 Pre-18th century

There is no structural evidence for any period prior
to the 18th century at Pen-y-bryn farmstead. It has been
seen above, 1.4, that the origins of the farm are open to
debate. The deeds for the neighbouring Dyffryn farm,
which probably originated under similar circumstances,
apparently date to 1704 (owner, Dyffryn Farm, pers.
comm.), However, establishment prior to the 18th century
cannot be ruled out and undoubtedly the nucleation of
three neighbouring farmsteads close to one another
among fields of ancient enclosure may suggest early post-
medieval origins (Brunskill, 1971, 137).

The main block of the farmhouse is an end chim-
ney house of submedieval type. This type, Smith’s Type
‘A’ (Smith, 1988, 172), was being built from the 16th
cenfury onwards and whilst there is no structural evidence
for attributing a date prior to the 18th century for its
construction, an earlier date cannot definately be ruled
out.

3.2 Phasel [8th century

Phase I includes the farmhouse main block, a Type
‘A’ end chimney house of submedieval type. They have a
scattered distribution in SW Wales but Carmarthenshire
examples are known (Smith, 1988, 436). The type, and
related submedieval plan houses, were still being built in
Wales well into the 18th century. The farmhouse roof
may well be original.

The house is clearly that depicted as already in
existence in the 1760 plan (Carmarthenshire Record
Office, Stepney Collection SE72). The other building
shown (above, 2.2.1} may or may not be the present
eastern range barn and stable block.

The barn and stable block is not necessarily
contemporary with the house and maybe somewhat later -
they are here grouped together as phase I for conveience.
However the barn block can, on stylistic grounds, be
attributed to the late 18th century.

The arrangements and appearance of the barn
block as built were probably much as today, with the
exception of the possible later first floors, and the remod-
elling of the stable openings. However, any evidence for
internal subdivision within the northern section, ie.
between the threshing floor itself and the bays either side,
is now lost but probably would have been present at least
as low sill wallg (Wiliam, 1986, 163). Threshing floor
porches are absent from SW Waleg (Wiliam, 1986, 152),

The overall arrangement of the barn block is
somewhat unusual. There appear to be two sections, each
possibly for a different crop, in a region where seperate
storage of crops is unusual (Wiliam, 1986, 156). If instead

10



two threshing floors are indicated then Pen-y-bryn offers
a very early example, almost unknown in this part of
Wales (Wiliam, 1986, 167).

The farmyard may have been laid out along with
the construction of the barn bieck.

3.3 Phase Il early 19th century

The map of ¢.1813 (National Library of Wales,
Ordnance Survey, “Original Survey Drawings’, Sheet
188) clearly shows that the yard had been established.
Also shown is a building in the position occupied by the
cowshed that forms the core of the western range. This is
entirely consistent with the structural evidence which
suggests an early 19th century date. The possible former
presence of a loft over the cowshed has been noted above.
It appears from this map and the ¢.1825 map (Ordnance
Survey, Index to Tithe Survey, Old Series, Sheet 37) that
the cowshed stood alone,

It has been noted above, 2.3.2, that in its original
form the northern range appears to be truncated by the
farmhouse annexe. Its limestone construction is not
unlike that of the cowshed above and it is here assigned to
phase II. The fact that it is not depicted on either of the
two early 19th century maps while the phase II cowshed is
need not be of great concern. These maps were never
intended to be detailed records.

The northern range has been altered to the extent
that the original arrangement cannot now be known. Its
earliest map depiction (Ordnance Survey 1:2500 First
Edition, Carmarthenshire, Sheet LVIIL 12, 1879) post-
dates the construction of the annexe and by this time it
comprised a building, probably aligned E-W, whose walls
continued as a yard to the south, The well is shown,
However, the plan suggests that in its original form the
whole structure may have been roofed as a building, The
cross wall that defined the northern area has been lost, but
there is no scar to suggest that it bonded with the side
walls and thus it may indeed have been later.

3.4 Phase XM mid [9th century 1

Phases III, I'V and V are assigned purely on
stylistic grounds, there being no map evidence for the
individual phases. All that can be said with certainty is
that they predate the 1879 map, on which they are shown
(Ordnance Survey 1:2500 First Edition, Carmarthenshire,
Sheet L VIIL.12).

The construction used in both the farmhouse
annexe and the southern building of the eastern range is
very similar being of flat limestone slabs laid in shallow
courses. They are here regarded as contemporary,

PEN ¥ BRYN FARM

3.5 Phase IV mid 19th century 2

The pigsties are possibly later. They are certainly
of rather different construction employing considerable
use of brick, in the segmental doorway heads, for exam-
ple. They can be seen to butt against the cowshed.

The northern group of sties were clearly short-
lived and are not shown on the 1879 map (Ordnance
Survey 1:2500 First Edition, Carmarthenshire, Sheet
LVIIL12),

The alterations to the openings in the east wall of
the eastern range southern building have been tentatively
assigned to this phase.

3.6 Phase V mid 19th century 3

The additional cowshed in the western range is
built against both the original cowshed and the southern
pigsties, whose walls it incorporates. It was in existence
by 1879 (Ordnance Survey 1:2500 First Edition, Car-
marthenshire, Sheet LVIIL.12),

It has been remarked above that the internal layout
that now exists in both cowsheds may just be the succes-
sor in concrete of the original layout.

Very similar brick window and doorway surrounds
to those seen in the phase V cowshed were inserted into
the stable in the eastern range, presumably at the time of
the cowshed’s construction. They may merely be re-
placements of existing openings.

The brick construction of the dividing wall in the
southern building of the eastern range may indicate its
introduction at around the same time.

3.7 Phase VI later 19th century

Both southern range buildings are depicted on the
1907 map (Ordnance Survey 1:2500 Second Edition,
Carmarthenshire, Sheet LVII1.12). The western building,
and the south wall of the eastern building still stand. The
former displays later additions. Possible functions for this
building are discussed above, 2.3.5,

3.8 Phase VII 1900-1910

The present windows in the farmhouse facade - the
south wall - are typical of those installed throughout the
region in the years immediately prior 1910. The frames
are gone but were cleariy sashes. The doorway is contem-
porary. The rendering with its mock-stone surround
reliefs was executed at the same time and is again 3 very
common feature within the region.

The farmhouse internal partitions, and stair, were
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replaced at this time. The frame mouldings are typical of
the period.

The northern range achieved its present form. A
dwelling, constructed with brick cavity walls, was con-
structed north of the former building whose north wall it
utilises. It appears then that the earlier northern range
building was in disrepair. Both buildings probably
fulfilled the same function, the new dwelling replacing
the old as extra accomodation for additional family
members rather than labourers, being a fairly well-
appointed dwelling,

An entirely unrelated piece of work may be broadly
contemporary. The east doorway into the western building
of the southern range was blocked with mixed brick
entirely unlike those used in the external stair that was
afterwards added. A similar material was used to rebuild
the north east corner of the first floor.

3.9 Phase VIII /1910-1920

The east wall of the farmhouse and annexe may
have been in some disrepair. It was rebuilt, with an
external cladding of bricks where the wall survives, The
first floor in the eastern half of the main block was
lowered to its present level, and the former kitchen range
in the annexe is integral with the wall.

The brick used for the external cladding is the
same kind of highly fired deep-red brick used in the
external steps built onto the east wall of the southern
range western building. The Iatter building appears to
have gone out of use fairly quickly after this event,
certainly before the abandonment of the farm. The
southern range eastern building was by this time probably
derelict.

3.10 Phase IX 1920-1930

Three small buildings show identical construction
of slender brick walls, one stretcher deep.

The milking machine is now gone from the annexe
built against the north wall of the phase II cowshed.
Likewise the engine, probably a stationary internal
combustion engine, no longer occupies the engine house
built agaist the east wall ot the phase [ barn block.

The small outside WC built to the north of the
northern range is now roofless, It was not fully surveyed,

In their present form the two ground floor fire-
places in the farmhouse are roughly contemporary and
have tile surrounds,
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3.11 Phase X PYc.1960

Phase X represents a definate period but there is
little standing evidence for it. It corresponds with the later
20th century decline of the farm and includes the period
after the early 1970s when the house was abandoned but
the milking parlours were still in use, rented out with the
land to neighbouring farmers. There is no bulk tank.

The breeze blocks in the gatepost built from the
north-west corner of the western building of the southern
range indicate some maintenance after the 1960s.

The large breeze-block hay barn to the west of the
complex is contemporary but lies beyond the scope of this
report.

: 4.0 CONCLUSION

Pen-y-bryn represents the gradual development
and decline of a small SW Welsh mixed farm. The
farmstead buildings, morecver, display structural evi-
dence from every stage,

There is no structural or cartographic evidence for
any occupation of the site prior to the establishment of the
farm. The farm may be a product of the early post-
medieval period but the earliest farmstead buildings are
no earlier than the 18th century.

From a probably 18th century submedieval house, Pen-y-
bryn expanded during the 18th and 19th centuries first
with the construction of a barn and stable range in the late
18th century. A cowshed was added in the early 15th
century and additional accomodation for the tenant’s
family. The buildings were extended throughout the
century. Pigsties, and then a second cowshed were built.
No definate carthouse has been identified but one of the
two buildings of the southren range, built in the later 19th
century, may have fulfilled this function.

Despite its relatively low acreage of 55 acres, 18th-15th
century Pen-y-bryn was generating sufficient income to
expand and permit the construction of good-quality farm
buildings. The practice was mixed - structural evidence
suggests that wheat and possibly barley were grown (or at
least imported) and a dairy herd of at least 15 head were
milked at the farm, at any one time, during the later 19th-
early 20th centuries. There were additional facilities for
fatstock.

What, then, were the causes of the farm’s increasing
fortunes during the course of the 19th century? Was the
initial impetus at the beginning of the century a radical
change in agricultural practice, perhaps initiated by the
landlord? And was this linked in any way to profits from
the establishment of the nearby collieries of Pen-y-bryn
and Bryn Carnarfon? These are lines of enquiry.

12



The farm continued to expand. Tithe map evidence
is unfortunately absent concerning the nature of the arable
and its crops. The normal situation for SW Walesis a
decline in arable during the 19th century, doubtless
accounting for the increased dairy facilities at Pen-y-bryn.

The farm appears to have been a going concern
until well into the 20th century, and decline may have
been rapid before it was finally abandoned in the early
1970s. Some use of the buildings apparently continued for
a period afterwrds.

- 5.0 ARCHIVE DEPOSITION

The archive indexed according to the National
Monuments Record (NMR) material categories is held by
Dyfed Archaeological Trust, Liandeilo, and contains the
following;

A, 1. Copy of the final report
C 1. Catalogue of all drawings
3. Survey drawings (4)
4. Level Il phased archive drawings, 1 at
1:100, 4 at 1;50
D. 1. Catalogue of photographs
2. Colour slides (29 frames)
3. Mono negs and contact sheats (99
frames)
(also 8 colour prints)

G. 1. Notes made during searches
2. Project correspondence

L 5. Final report - typescript
6. Final report - disc
J. 1. Report drawings
L. 1. Brief and specification for the report

There is no material for classes B, E, F, H, K, M and N.
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Figure 1: Location Map
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Figure 2: Overall plan of Pen-y-bryn Farm
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Figure 3: Plans of Farmhouse
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Figure 4: Elevations and Sections

of Farmhouse
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Figure 4: Elevations and Sections
of Farmhouse
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" Appendix 8.1: Plan of Pen-y-bryn Farm in 1760
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Appendix 8.2: Mid 19th century plan of - . :
Pen-y-bryn Farm ‘ 3
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Appendix 8.4: Copy from 1907 map
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Appendix 8.5: Late 19th century
farmstead design

Key
A Dwelling House
\ B Cart House, with Store-house above
C  Stable[with loose box and harness room, and loft above]
> Bamn

E  ChalfRoom. Bed-room for Servant boys to be above
' Cowllouse

G Fortwo yearold Beasts

H Shed for Yearlings

I PigStyes

SYRSTOZ T MR

Shed for Beilers [= Brewhouse]
Shed for Fowls &

Tank for Liquid Manure With Tool shed above
Pond

Garden

Court in front of House

Road

Mauanure heap

Staclk Yard

Huy House

Coal Shed




